
 

 
 

 

City of Westminster 
 

  
 

Committee Agenda 
 

Title: 
 

 Planning & City Development Committee 

   

Meeting Date: 
 

 Monday 12th November, 2018 

   

Time: 
 

 7.00 pm 

   

Venue: 
 

 Room 3.6 and 3.7, 3rd Floor, 5 Strand, London, WC2 5HR 

   

Members: 
 

 Councillors: 
 

 

  Gotz Mohindra (Chairman) 
Timothy Barnes 
Geoff Barraclough 
David Boothroyd 
Iain Bott 
Susie Burbridge 
Ruth Bush 
Tony Devenish 
Peter Freeman 
Murad Gassanly 

 

Jim Glen 
Angela Harvey 
Elizabeth Hitchcock 
Louise Hyams 
Guthrie McKie 
Robert Rigby 
Tim Roca 
Selina Short 
James Spencer 
 

   

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting 
and listen to the discussion Part 1 of the Agenda 
 
Admission to the public gallery is by ticket, issued from the 
ground floor reception. If you have a disability and require 
any special assistance please contact the Committee Officer 
(details listed below) in advance of the meeting. 
 

   

T
 

 An Induction loop operates to enhance sound for anyone 
wearing a hearing aid or using a transmitter.  If you require 
any further information, please contact the Committee 
Officer, Tristan Fieldsend, Committee and Governance 
Officer. 
 
Tel: 020 7641 2341; Email: tfieldsend@westminster.gov.uk 
Corporate Website: www.westminster.gov.uk 
 
 

 
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.westminster.gov.uk/


 

 

Note for Members: Members are reminded that Officer contacts are shown at the end of 
each report and Members are welcome to raise questions in advance of the meeting.  
With regard to item 2, guidance on declarations of interests is included in the Code of 
Governance; if Members and Officers have any particular questions they should contact 
the Head of Committee and Governance Services in advance of the meeting please. 
 

AGENDA 

PART 1 (IN PUBLIC)  

1.   MEMBERSHIP  

 To report and changes to the membership. 
 

 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 To receive and record declarations of interest. 
 

 

3.   MINUTES (Pages 3 - 6) 

 To sign the minutes of the last meeting as a correct record of 
proceedings. 
 

 

4.   DEVELOPMENT PLANNING, TRENDS AND ISSUES (Pages 7 - 42) 

 Report of the Director of Planning 
 

 

5.   CITY PLAN  

 To receive a presentation and verbal update from the Cabinet 
Member for Place Shaping and Planning 
 

 

6.   ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN 
CONSIDERS URGENT 

 

 
 
Stuart Love 
Chief Executive 
2 November 2018 
 



 
1 

 

 

 
CITY OF WESTMINSTER 

 
 

MINUTES 

 
 

Planning & City Development Committee  
 

MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Planning & City Development Committee held on 
Thursday 28th September, 2017, Room 3.1, 3rd Floor, 5 Strand, London, WC2 
5HR. 
 
Members Present: Councillors Richard Beddoe (Chairman), David Boothroyd, 
Susie Burbridge, Ruth Bush, Melvyn Caplan, Paul Church, Jonathan Glanz, 
Tim Mitchell, Gotz Mohindra, Robert Rigby, Andrew Smith and Jason Williams 
 
1 MEMBERSHIP 
 
1.1 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Iain Bott, Barbara 

Grahame, Angela Harvey and Louise Hyams. 
 
2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
2.1 Cllr David Boothroyd declared that he was Head of Research and Psephology 

for Thorncliffe, whose clients were companies applying for planning 
permission from various local authorities. No current schemes were in 
Westminster; if there were he would be precluded from working on them 
under the company’s code of conduct. 

 
3 WESTMINSTER CITY PLAN - DIRECTION OF TRAVEL 
 
3.1 The Committee received a report from the Head of City Policy and Strategy 

which provided an update on progress of the revised City Plan at the post-
Regulation 18 Notification/pre-Regulation 19 Notification stage. It informed the 
Committee of the broad direction of travel of the new Plan and sought its 
views on key policy areas. 

 
3.2 The Cabinet Member for Planning and Public Realm and the Head of City 

Policy and Strategy joined the meeting for the debate on this item and 
answered members’ questions in connection with the report. 

 
3.3 The Committee discussed in detail the following issues: 
 

 Policy Designations and Boundaries for the West End – There were a 
number of existing strategies and policies in place which impacted on 
planning in the West End. The importance of the City Plan reflecting and 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 
2 

 

refining what already existed was stressed in order to avoid the confusion 
of creating another definition of the West End.  
 

 New Approach to Housing Delivery: Application of Adopted City Plan 
Policies – The Committee considered how the approach to different policy 
areas of the City Plan would change according to different needs and 
circumstances. In the interim a new approach would be implemented 
based on existing City Plan policies but containing new elements. 
Members would have the opportunity to comment on the new City Plan in 
due course. 

 

 Unallocated Residential Parking – In response to clarity on future car 
parking requirements for new developments it was suggested the City 
Plan would bring a greater flexibility to determine what parking was 
required based on each particular application. This would include a less 
rigid adherence to minimum parking requirements. 

 

 The Impact of the Night-time Economy on Public Safety – Concern was 
expressed with regards to the effects an increase in night-time activity 
would have on the mental health of local residents. The Sub-Committee 
was informed that the Council was aware of such issues and in response 
Councillor Paul Church had recently been appointed the Council’s mental 
health champion. Adult social care representatives formed part of the task 
group currently looking at the City Plan and the Head of City Policy and 
Strategy would ensure the issue of mental health would be raised at its 
next meeting. 
 

 Affordable Housing – The importance of ensuring the delivery of 
affordable housing was recognised and discussions with developers were 
underway with regards to improving on-site delivery. The Sub-Committee 
discussed the aim of the City Plan to ensure the full viable affordable 
housing requirements for future developments would be met. 

 

 The City Plan’s Flexibility - Whilst it was recognised bringing a degree of 
flexibility into the City Plan was beneficial concern was expressed that this 
could have the effect of making it difficult in future to refuse planning 
applications based on planning grounds. The Committee was assured that 
this area of concern had been recognised and efforts to address this were 
reflected in the very prescriptive approach recently taken when drafting 
the new growth/tall/higher buildings policies. 

 

 Evening and Night-time Economy – The Committee discussed a proposal 
that ‘Stress Areas’ should differentiate between evening uses, e.g. 
restaurants and theatres, and late night uses, e.g. clubs and music 
venues, and take into account the different impacts they had on local 
areas. It was noted that it was important to find the correct balance 
between increasing the vitality of town centres and protecting the amenity 
of neighbouring residents. These were issues that required addressing in 
the City Plan whilst ensuring at the same time the policies aimed at 
preventing cumulative impact in current stress areas were not relaxed. 

Page 4



 
3 

 

 

 Transport Infrastructure – With regards to transport hubs the Council now 
had more sophisticated processes in place to assess what infrastructure 
was already in place when considering what developments were suitable 
for such sites and any potential impact they may have. With regards to 
transport it was noted in the report that references to ‘Pedestrian 
Movement and Sustainable Transport’ were to be removed. The Cabinet 
Member agreed to provide an update on this to the Committee following 
the meeting. 

 

 Open Spaces – The Committee was interested to learn if the City Plan 
would encourage applications for large developments to include a green 
space provision within them? Members noted that health and safety 
issues over public access to green spaces located on rooftops had been 
encountered however negotiations would continue in ensuring green 
spaces at ground floor level were provided for any large developments. 
The old Post office site on Oxford Street was cited as an example of new 
public realm space being provided with a new development. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
1) That the broad direction of travel for the Full Revision to the Westminster City 

Plan be noted; and  
 
2) That the views provided by the Committee on the Westminster City Plan 

Review - Regulation 18 consultation responses be noted. 
 
4 PLANNING APPLICATIONS REPORTED TO COMMITTEE - TRENDS AND 

ISSUES 
 
The Committee received a report from the Director of Planning which provided a 
summary of the applications considered by the Planning Applications Sub-
Committees following their restructuring in February 2017.  
 
The Director of Planning was invited to join the meeting for the debate on this item 
and answered members’ questions in connection with the report. The Committee 
noted that there was a consistency in decision making amongst the four Planning 
Sub-Committees. The Chairman of Planning had also requested that a more even 
balance of major applications be reported across all four Sub-Committees in future. 
 
The Committee was of the opinion that there was currently a lack of visibility 
regarding applications refused by Sub-Committees and the outcomes of any 
subsequent appeals. Following a suggestion from the Director of Planning the 
Committee agreed it would be beneficial for a summary of applications be provided 
to Planning members in future. 
 
RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 
 
 

Page 5



 
4 

 

5 WHEN TO DECLARE INTERESTS AT MEETINGS OF THE PLANNING 
APPLICATIONS SUB-COMMITTEES 

 
The Committee received a report from the Director of Law which provided guidance 
to members on when it was appropriate to declare an interest in matters being 
considered at committee. 
 
The Manager and Principal Solicitor of the Planning, Highways and Licensing Team 
and the Principal Solicitor (Litigation and Social Care) were invited to join the 
meeting for the debate on this item and answered members’ questions in connection 
with the report. 
 
The Committee noted the two distinct types of interests which were required to be 
declared at meetings, (i) disclosable pecuniary interests and (ii) the disclosure of 
“other interests” in certain circumstances. Clarification on what interests it was not 
always necessary to disclose at meetings was also provided. Training sessions on 
the declaration of interests had been provided as part of the Member Development 
Programme and members were requested to contact Legal Services prior to a 
Planning Sub-Committee if they had any questions relating to the declaring of 
interests. 
 
RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 
6 ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
 
There was no other business to report. 
 
 
The Meeting ended at 7.56 pm 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAIRMAN:   DATE  

 
 
 

Page 6



  
 

 
Planning & City Development Committee 

 
 

Date: 12 November 2018 
  
Classification: General Release 
  
Title: Development Planning, Trends and Issues 
  
Report of: John Walker - Director of Planning (GPH) 
  
Financial Summary: N/A 
  
Report Author and Contact Details: Claragh Mulhern cmulhern@westminster.gov.uk 
 

 
1. Executive Summary 
 
1.1       This report presents a summary of the key current trends and issues facing the service:  
 

 The review of the service by the Planning Advisory Service (PAS) and Local 
Government Association (LGA); 

 

 The recent changes to legislation surrounding pre-commencement conditions, 
namely the requirement for the local planning authority to seek the agreement 
of applicants and the implications thereof for the determination of applications; 

 

 The current planning enforcement position on the unauthorised installation of 
telephone kiosks and associated advertising;  

 

 The decline in the number of planning applications being received; and 
 

 Consultation on planning changes proposed by the Government. 
 
2. Recommendation 
 
2.1 Members are asked to note the contents of this report. 
 
3.       Background 
 
Planning Advisory Service Review 
 
3.1 The Planning Advisory Service and Local Government Association were asked earlier 

this year to look at all aspects of the decision-making process in planning to ensure it 
is an independent and impartial process. The report of the PAS peer review team, 
which was tasked with analysing the service in the context of the following key themes: 
an effective and professional development management service; hospitality; 
committees; delivering corporate outcomes and strategic management, was finalised 
on 19 September 2018. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 

 
The recommendations of the peer review team are as follows:  

 
- Development Management, Planning Policy, Delivery and Regeneration need to be 
more closely aligned.  
 
- The Development Management service should publicly promote and deliver ‘distance’ 
between the regulatory service and applicants, agents, formal community organisations 
and the public.  

 
- Committee practices and procedures need to be reviewed to focus resources on the 
right types of development and creating a platform for a more open and engaging 
experience for the public (including the introduction of ‘public speaking’).  

 
- Delegate decision-making among a greater number of staff.  

 
- The service needs to review the roles of its highways planning team and the corporate 
Highways function. 

 
- Continue to use all available measures to address recruitment and retention issues. 

 
- Review communications on Planning Performance Agreements (PPAs). 

 
The PAS report was presented to Cabinet on 25 October 2018 as an appendix to a report 
prepared by the Chief Executive and Executive Director for Growth Planning and Housing 
outlining a series of recommendations for improvements to the planning service: 
 

2.1. To endorse the findings and recommendations of the report submitted by the 
Planning Advisory Service (PAS) and to take the following steps to:  
 
a) Improve the openness and transparency of the planning system:  

 

 We will record Planning Sub-Committee meetings and make the coverage available 
post-meeting;  

 We will live stream Planning Sub-Committee meetings once an appropriate 
technological solution has been identified and sourced;  
 
b) Make it easier for residents to engage with the planning system:  

 

 We will introduce “public speaking rights” at Planning Sub-Committee meetings;  

 We will review all our digital content on the planning process and planning decisions, 
particularly that included on the council’s website to improve accessibility for the 
general public;  

 We will improve the way we explain planning policies and decisions to make them 
easier to understand.  
 
2.2. To support resident and ward Councillor participation at an earlier stage of the 
process, for example in the pre-application stage of major applications, we will adopt a 
new approach to communicating and engaging their views in proposals. 
 
2.3. To direct the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Place-
Shaping and Planning, to recommend to the Planning and City Development 
Committee to increase delegation and review the call-in procedures, empowering 
officers to take more delegated decisions, in consultation with ward Members as 

Page 8



 

appropriate without the need for escalation to Sub-Committee, thereby speeding up the 
process. The details of the revised delegation and call in procedures be reviewed and 
recommended for decision at the next Planning and City Development Committee.  
 
2.4. To direct the Executive Director of Growth Planning and Housing and the Executive 
Director of Policy Performance and Communications to submit a joint report to the next 
Planning and City Development Committee setting out the detailed proposals for the 
introduction of public speaking rights. A target date for the introduction of public 
speaking rights is set for 1 December 2018.  
 
2.5. To direct the Chief Executive to restate to both officers and members their 
responsibilities in terms of the Council’s gifts and hospitality policies. This will include 
emphasising the importance of exercising sound judgement in dealing with all offers of 
gifts and hospitality. To note that in terms of the planning service, this will build on the 
guidance issued in February 2017 regarding Councillor meetings with developers on 
particular schemes. Council officers and elected members involved in the planning 
process must retain a distance from land owners, applicants, agents and community 
stakeholders, other than at formally arranged visits and recorded meetings linked 
directly and specifically to the consideration of planning applications, pre applications, 
or the development of the local plan.  
 
2.6. To create a new Place-Shaping and Planning directorate which reflects the 
ambitious agenda set by the Leader and Cabinet to deliver a City for All, and for the 
new service to deliver the direction of travel which will be set out in the emerging City 
Plan. 

 
The general direction of travel outlined in the report were agreed by Cabinet however Members 
considered that more work needs to be done to outline the details of how public speaking at 
Committee might be facilitated and how the local community and Ward Councillors will be more 
involved at an earlier stage of the planning process. Members also considered that there 
should be engagement with key stakeholders on these proposals. As such, these details are 
not reported to this Committee for agreement.  
 
Pre-commencement conditions and the consent of applicants 

3.2 In recent years the Government has sought to reduce delays and uncertainty from the 
development industry, in particular to aid the delivery of housing, and as such a raft of 
measures to ‘speed up’ the planning process have been introduced. One such measure 
relates to the use of ‘pre-commencement’ conditions, namely conditions attached to 
planning permissions which require the developer to provide details for approval by the 
local planning authority before work can commence on site.  

3.3 From 01 October 2018, The Town and Country Planning (Pre-Commencement 
Conditions) Regulations 2018 came into effect. These new regulations provide that 
planning permission for the development of land may not be granted subject to a pre-
commencement condition without the local authority first seeking the written agreement 
of the applicant to the terms of the condition, with the aim that building work can 
commence as soon as possible after the grant of permission. 

3.4 The procedure set out in the legislation advises that local planning authorities may 
notify applicants of proposed pre-commencement conditions, setting out their reasons 
for them ‘clearly and precisely’, and giving applicants ten working days to respond. 
Applicants must provide a ‘substantive response’ within that period (stating that they 
do not agree to the imposition of the proposed condition, or providing comments on it); 

Page 9



 

if they do not provide such a response, planning permission may be granted with the 
proposed pre-commencement conditions in place, and without the applicant's consent. 
Where a substantive response has been provided, the local planning authority can 
amend the condition, remove it, make it a post-commencement condition, or refuse the 
application. 

3.5 Whilst the benefits of allowing work to start on site as soon as possible are 
acknowledged and indeed we have reviewed our use of pre-commencement conditions 
to ensure no unnecessary hurdles stand in the way of development, the requirement 
to seek the applicant’s agreement to the imposition of pre-commencement conditions 
raises significant concerns for planning decisions.  

3.6 There are a number or cases where pre-commencement conditions are justified in 
order to ensure the impacts of a development will be adequately mitigated. For 
example, for large-scale and major schemes and basement proposals, the applicant is 
required to commit, via a pre-commencement condition, to signing up to the City 
Council’s Code of Construction Practice before any work commences on site (including 
demolition or excavation). The purpose of the City Council’s Code of Construction 
Practice (COCP) is to monitor, control and manage construction impacts in order to 
assist with managing the environmental impacts. The Code also seeks to identify the 
main responsibilities and requirements of developers and contractors in constructing 
their projects. It is essential that this commitment is secured before work starts as it 
relates to the works themselves. The City Council and statutory consultees also rely on 
pre-commencement conditions to deal with other detailed and technical matters such 
as, for example, tree protection, land contamination, digging archaeological trial pits for 
investigation, protection of protected species and habitats; and foundation/piling details 
in relation to underground infrastructure (eg London Underground/Crossrail/sewerage). 
In these cases it is critical that the further details and investigations required by the 
condition are carried out to our satisfaction before any work starts on site in the interests 
of protecting the trees in question, preventing contamination and preventing disruption 
to important biodiversity or archaeological assets.  

3.7 The likely practical implications for the determination of applications are as follows: 
 

Increase in refusals 
 

The likelihood of planning permission being refused will be increased where the 
applicant fails to agree to a condition being a pre-commencement condition despite 
justification being provided by the City Council. As a result the applicant will be forced 
to appeal against the complete refusal of permission rather than against a condition. 
This will result in greater uncertainty and a longer time in the planning process for the 
applicant. 

 
Extra expense for the applicant at application stage 

 
Pre-commencement conditions generally cover matters that a householder/developer 
may not want to spend a huge amount of time and money (and consequent risk) on 
before getting a planning permission and commissioning expensive reports.   In order 
to avoid the potential for the applicant to fail to agree to a pre-commencement condition, 
we may have to consider obtaining the information at validation stage. As a result more 
applications might be made invalid and the applicant will be required to prepare detailed 
and costly reports/drawings at a stage in the process where they will have less certainty 
over the likelihood of permission being granted. 

 
 

Page 10

https://www.westminster.gov.uk/code-construction-practice


 

Practical issues for officers and Members at Planning Committee 

The serving of a 10 working day notice period will build in time delays to processing 
applications and add an extra layer of administration for officers. This process takes up 
a quarter of the statutory eight week period for processing planning applications and 
seems disproportionate but the Council has no discretion to reduce the notification 
period. There may also be cases where, for example, a notice has been served 
proposing a pre-commencement condition and it has been agreed by a developer, then 
a late consultation response asks for another pre-commencement condition which the 
LPA considers to meet the statutory tests, then the 10 day notice procedure has to start 
all over again.  Although relatively unlikely, there could be a situation where multiple 
notices are running, adding significant delay. 

 
The procedure will mean that Members deciding applications at planning committee 
will not be able to impose pre-commencement conditions.  The Committee resolution 
constitutes the formal decision and as such there is no opportunity to seek the 
applicant’s agreement to the conditions.   To comply with the proposed regulations, 
Members will have to resolve to grant consent with the additional condition subject to 
a notice being served to get the agreement of the applicant before being signed off via 
delegated powers if the applicant agrees to it. If the applicant does not consent it will 
have to be reported back to committee. 

Unauthorised installation of telephone kiosks and associated advertising 

3.8       In the last few years, the City Council has received a large number of applications for 

prior approval for new telephone kiosks with advertising. The Council’s primary concern 

is that these applications for new kiosks are being made for the revenue that can be 

obtained from the display of advertisements on the kiosks themselves rather than for 

their primary purpose, which should be to enable the public to make telephone calls.  

3.9       Between the 1st January 2016 and the beginning of August 2018 (two and a half years), 

the City Council received approximately 350 applications for new telephone kiosks to 

be placed in Westminster. In almost all of these kiosks it is proposed to have 

advertising. For those proposed to be located outside of designated conservation 

areas, advertisement consent would not be required but for those located within 

conservation areas, express advertisement consent would be required from the City 

Council as Local Planning Authority. Almost every refusal which has been the subject 

of an appeal, has been allowed by the Planning Inspectorate which demonstrates the 

difficulty we face in preventing the proliferation of these telephone boxes on our 

streets.   

3.10     Notwithstanding the influx of applications for additional kiosks, there are a large number 

of existing boxes in Westminster that are in very poor condition. Many do not have 

working handsets and are not being maintained. It would seem many are only in situ 

for the advertising opportunity. Following legal advice on what could be done to 

potentially seek removal of the redundant kiosks, pioneering survey work was 

undertaken by the Planning Enforcement Team on a number of kiosks spread 

throughout the borough as well as a small geographic area comprising Oxford Street 

and any kiosks immediately visible on any of the side streets off Oxford Street. 

3.11     The kiosks where monitored for a period of approximately six months with repeated 

visits and at the end of the monitoring period, Counsel advised that Planning 

Contravention Notices (PCNs) should be served on the owners of each telephone kiosk 

that had been the subject of the monitoring exercise. Following correspondence with 

Page 11



 

the owners of the kiosks, it was determined that formal enforcement action would be 

justified in relation to eight particular kiosks where the telephones had rarely been used 

and in some instances not at all for the six months prior to the service of the PCN’s. 

The owners of those particular kiosks subsequently agreed to remove seven of the 

kiosks, claiming that the final kiosk had been serviced and was in use.  

3.12     Whilst this ground-breaking action did result in removal of seven telephone kiosks, it 

was time and resource intensive taking the best part of 12 months to achieve and could 

have taken longer had the owners not agreed voluntarily to remove the kiosks. Now 

that the pilot action has run its course, options for other pro-active enforcement action 

in other geographical parts of Westminster is being looked at. 

3.13   The Government has also announced very recently it intends to make changes so all 

proposed new kiosks will require planning permission and the rights to display 

advertisements on these structures without the need for consent from the Council will 

also be removed. These proposed changes are welcomed. 

Carlton Tavern 

3.14  The public house was demolished without planning permission in April 2015.  An 

enforcement notice was served in June 2015 requiring the building to be rebuilt. An 

appeal was lodged against this notice, and an injunction was issued, prohibiting further 

demolition of the building in July 2015.  Following a public inquiry, the enforcement 

notice was upheld, with a two-year compliance period running from the date of the 

appeal decision.  The compliance period of the notice expired on 8 July 2018, by which 

time the public house should be completely rebuilt.   

3.15  Following long delays, architects and associated contractors have been commissioned 

and works are finally under way to rebuild the pub. The works are being closely 

monitored and prosecution interviews being prepared for non-compliance with the 

Council’s deadline. 

Decline in the number of planning applications 

3.16 There has been a reduction in the number of applications received so far this year 
(approximately 5% reduction in total). It is thought the initial drop in application numbers 
at the beginning of the year was down partially to the election in May when developers 
shy away from submitting major/controversial applications, the residential market falling 
away and the uncertainties of Brexit. Numbers of applications have subsequently 
increased, but there are still significantly less major applications with Planning 
Performance Agreements (42% reduction on last year).  

 
Planning changes proposed by the Government 
 
3.17   The Government has recently published a consultation document entitled “Planning 

Reform: Supporting the high street and increasing the delivery of new homes” which 
sets out proposed changes to the planning system. Some of the proposed changes, 
which includes the changes to regulations on phone kiosks, include the following; 

 

 a new permitted development right to allow shops (A1) financial and professional 
services (A2), hot food takeaways (A5), betting shops, pay day loan shop and 
launderettes to change to office use (B1)?  

 

 a new permitted development right to allow hot food takeaways (A5) to change to 
residential use (C3) 

Page 12



 

 

 There is currently a right for the temporary change of use from shops (A1) financial 
and professional services (A2), restaurants and cafes (A3), hot food takeaways 
(A5), offices (B1), non-residential institutions (D1), assembly and leisure uses (D2), 
betting shops and pay day loan shops to change to shops (A1) financial and 
professional services (A2), restaurants and cafes (A3) or offices (B1). The 
Government proposes that these premises should also be allowed to change to 
certain community uses: public library, exhibition hall, museum, clinic or health 
centre and to extend the period of the temporary use from 2 years to 3 years. 

 

 that the A1 use class should be simplified to ensure it captures current and future 
retail models 

 

 that the A1, A2 and A3 use classes be merged to create a single use class 
 

 a new permitted development right, subject to prior approval by the local planning 
authority, to allow additional storeys to be built up to 5 storeys, in particular those 
in commercial or residential (C3) use. The Government would either allow premises 
to extend up to the roofline of the highest building in a terrace or allow building up 
to the prevailing roof height in the locality. 

 

 a right for additional storeys on purpose built free standing blocks of flats 
 

 Increase the height for recharging electric vehicle upstand in an off-street parking 
space from 1.6ms to 2.3ms 

 

 that the existing time-limited permitted development right for change of use from 
storage or distribution to residential is made permanent? 

 

 that the time-limited permitted development right for larger extensions to 
dwellinghouses is made permanent? 

 

 a permitted development right for the “high quality redevelopment” of commercial 
sites, including demolition and replacement build as residential, which retained the 
existing developer contributions? 

 
The above list highlights the main/most relevant changes that are being proposed. The 
implications are currently being looked at before a response is made. 
 
4. Financial Implications 
 
4.1 None 
 
5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 None 
 
6. Conclusion 
 
6.1       The review of the planning service by the Planning Advisory Service has been 

completed and the recommendations to Cabinet are outlined above, with further details 
and recommendations to be reported in due course. The requirement to seek the 
consent of applicants to the imposition of pre-commencement conditions when granting 
planning permission raises concerns in terms of the practical implications for the 

Page 13



 

determination of applications. The Planning Enforcement Team have successfully 
secured the removal of a number of redundant telephone kiosks in the Oxford Street 
area and thereby prevented their use for advertising purposes and the Carlton Tavern 
is finally being rebuilt. The number of planning applications being received has reduced 
since last year. Total number of applications has started to improve but there is still a 
significant decrease in numbers of major applications. 

 

 
If you have any questions about this report, or wish to inspect one of the 
background papers, please contact: Claragh Mulhern on x2535 
 

 

1. Report to Cabinet on Planning Review, 25 October 2018 with attached PAS Review 
Feedback Report. 

Page 14



 

Cabinet Report 
 
 

Meeting or Decision Maker: Cabinet  

Date: 25th October 2018 

Classification: General Release 

Title: Planning Review – Final Report 

Wards Affected: All 

City for All Summary An open and transparent Council with services 

accessible and relevant to everyone. Ensuring 

development in the City works best for those 

living here.  

Key Decision: Cabinet 

Financial Summary: The reduction of one Director post will result in 

savings that will be reflected in the 2018/19 

outturn.  

Any further financial impacts will be delivered 

within budget and reflected in the 2018/19 

outturn. 

Report of:  Stuart Love – Chief Executive 

Barbara Brownlee – Executive Director, Growth 

Planning and Housing 

 

1.  Executive Summary 

1.1. This report sets out ambitious and wide ranging changes to the Council’s 
Place-Shaping and Planning functions, which will result in a more open, 
transparent and proactive approach to planning in the city, underpinned by a 
service and an officer culture focused on delivering the Council’s City for All 
vision. It will therefore also place residents at the heart of the planning 
process. 

 

APPENDIX 1 

Page 15



1.2.  Along with the current review of the City Plan and a renewed commitment 
from the leadership of the Council to ensure that all of its residents benefit 
from development, the recommendations set out in this report provide a 
significant opportunity for the planning service to evolve, placing itself in the 
strongest position possible to deliver both the City Plan and Westminster’s 
wider corporate objectives. It will also lead to best practice and regain and 
maintain trust in an important public and regulatory service. 

1.3.  This follows a review of the Council’s approach to planning initiated by the 
Leader of the Council and Cabinet at the start of 2018. The review 
specifically considered the effectiveness of Westminster’s Development 
Planning service, the role of hospitality, the delivery of corporate objectives 
and outcomes, and the planning committee system and decision-making 
process. 

1.4. This review was supported by the Planning Advisory Service (PAS), which is 
part of the Local Government Association (LGA). 

2.  Recommendations 

2.1. To endorse the findings and recommendations of the report  submitted  by  
the  Planning  Advisory  Service (PAS) and to take the following steps to: 

a) Improve the openness and transparency of the planning system: 

  We will record Planning Sub-Committee meetings and make the 
coverage available post-meeting; 

  We will live stream Planning Sub-Committee meetings once an 
appropriate technological solution has been identified and sourced; 

b) Make it easier for residents to engage with the planning system: 

  We will introduce “public speaking rights” at Planning Sub-Committee 
meetings; 

  We will review all our digital content on the planning process and 
planning decisions, particularly that included on the council’s website 
to improve accessibility for the general public; 

  We will improve the way we explain planning policies and decisions to 
make them easier to understand. 

2.2.  To support resident and ward Councillor participation at an earlier stage of 
the process, for example in the pre-application stage of major applications, 
we will adopt a new approach to communicating and engaging their views in 
proposals. 

 

 

Page 16



2.3.  To direct the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Place-Shaping and Planning, to recommend to the Planning and City 
Development Committee to increase delegation and review the call-in 
procedures, empowering officers to take more delegated decisions, in 
consultation with ward Members as appropriate without the need for 
escalation to Sub-Committee, thereby speeding up the process. The details 
of the revised delegation and call in procedures be reviewed and 
recommended for decision at the next Planning and City Development 
Committee. 
 

2.4.  To direct the Executive Director of Growth Planning and Housing and the 
Executive Director of Policy Performance and Communications to submit a 
joint report to the next Planning and City Development Committee setting out 
the detailed proposals for the introduction of public speaking rights. A target 
date for the introduction of public speaking rights is set for 1 December 2018. 

 
2.5.  To direct the Chief Executive to restate to both officers and members their 

responsibilities in terms of the Council’s gifts and hospitality policies.  This will 
include emphasising the importance of exercising sound judgement in 
dealing with all offers of gifts and hospitality. To note that in terms of the 
planning service, this will build on the guidance issued in February 2017 
regarding Councillor meetings with developers on particular schemes.   
 
Council officers and elected members involved in the planning process must 
retain a distance from land owners, applicants, agents and community 
stakeholders, other than at formally arranged visits and recorded meetings 
linked directly and specifically to the consideration of planning applications, 
pre applications, or the development of the local plan. 

 

2.6.  To create a new Place-Shaping and Planning directorate which reflects the 
ambitious agenda set by the Leader and Cabinet to deliver a City for All, and 
for the new service to deliver the direction of travel which will be set out in the 
emerging City Plan. 

 
3.  Reason for Decision   

3.1. The Leader and Cabinet have set an ambitious agenda to change how the 
Council operates in a number of areas, including, but not limited to planning. 

3.2. The direction of travel is to shift away from a largely reactive and development 
management focused planning service towards a proactive and strategic 
approach, guided by the Council’s vision and priorities. This will require 
cultural change throughout the whole system. 

3.3.  It will also mean that, should they wish to, residents and others will have the 
ability to take a clearer and more proactive role in the planning and decision 
making process related to development in their area. This includes 
Neighbourhood Forums, Amenity Societies and the general public. 

 

Page 17



3.4.  Work is ongoing to finalise the City Plan (the Council’s Statutory Local Plan) 
for public consultation in November 2018. The revised City Plan will be 
streamlined and place much greater emphasis on positive considerations 
about the type of development that is appropriate in Westminster. The 
service which implements this policy framework must therefore also be 
governed by the same principles.  

3.5.  These recommendations are supported by the findings of the PAS report. 

4. Background 
  

4.1.  Following the election of a new Leader of the Council and Cabinet in January 
2017, a number of changes have been implemented regarding the 
management of the planning system in Westminster. 

4.2.  In February 2017, new guidance was introduced governing how the Cabinet 
Member for Place-Shaping and Planning and the Chairman of Planning 
should engage with planning applicants before and after submission of 
applications. This guidance set out that such meetings must take place with a 
Planning Officer present and a record of the meeting and any advice given 
must be made. The guidance also sets out that once an application is 
submitted any advice provided by the relevant member will be given to the 
Director of Planning for inclusion in the committee report. 

4.3.  In early 2018, the Leader of the Council instructed the Chief Executive to 
undertake a review of the planning system as a whole, learning the lessons 
from a year of operating the new guidance and with a view to ensuring a 
modern, open transparent planning service. 

4.4.  In May 2018, PAS were instructed to review the operation of Westminster’s 
Development Management (DM) service. PAS was asked to consider the 
effectiveness of the service, the role hospitality plays, the delivery of 
corporate objectives and outcomes, and the Planning Committee System and 
Decision Making. 

4.5.  PAS reported to the Chief Executive and the Executive Director of Growth, 
Planning and Housing in September 2018 and this report is the Council’s 
response to that process. 

4.6.  A copy of the final PAS report is attached (Appendix 1) and the key findings 
are summarised below. 

 

5.  Key findings 
  

5.1. A culture change in planning in Westminster 
 

5.1.1. The PAS review notes that: 
 

“The Leadership of Westminster has an excellent opportunity to change the narrative 
about planning and with it the philosophy and role of planning. Westminster does not 
have to go out and seek development and this could have contributed to the balance 
at Westminster being tilted more towards reacting to and regulating development 

 

Page 18



than proactively managing and delivering a vision. The ‘City for All’ strategy and 
emerging local plan should be the driving forces that communicate to the community 
and developers a clear vision for Westminster, how it wants to develop and its 
priorities. Planning should be placed at the front and centre of how that vision is 
achieved.” 

 

5.1.2.  In order to seize this opportunity, it is necessary to implement both structural 
and cultural changes in how the planning function operates. 

 
5.1.3.  The Council’s current planning service is operating from a purely development 

control perspective in determining applications and not embracing the wider 
Town Planning role, which provides for, and requires a much greater degree 
of creativity and proactivity in assessing applications. 

 
5.1.4.  The Council has a reputation for delivering innovative and high quality 

services and both officers and Councillors are keen to ensure that the 
organisation does not ‘rest on its laurels’ and continues to change and to 
innovate. 

 
5.1.5.  For the planning service this includes finding the right balance between its 

role as a regulator and the transparent promotor of development that will 
deliver the key outcomes for all of Westminster’s communities. Planning policy 
and its implementation should be the spatial interpretation of the Council’s 
vision, objectives and priorities both for city management and planning. 

 
5.1.6.  The review encourages the planning service to explore and develop 

innovative approaches to city centre management and this should include 
learning from other UK local planning authorities and global centres. 

 
5.1.7.  The review recommends that Development Management, planning policy, 

delivery and regeneration be more closely aligned. The planning function has 
become development control-led and a largely reactive rather than proactive 
service which is at the heart of delivering the Council’s City for All vision.   

 
5.1.8. The planning service should provide leadership in terms of the growth and 

development of the city and therefore it is recommended that the Council 
create and appoint a strategic place shaping and planning lead to ensure 
corporate leadership in all key service areas and a joined up approach to this 
agenda. This would align with the Cabinet Member portfolio created following 
the 2018 local elections. 

5.1.9. The Chief Executive, the Executive Director for Growth, Planning and Housing 
and the Director of Policy, Performance and Communications have been 
reviewing the structure of the planning function as part of the review process. 
It is proposed to delete the post of Director of Planning and the post of 
Director of Place Shaping & WEP (West End Partnership) and to create a new 
post of Director of Place Shaping and Planning.  This new post will have 
overall responsibility for the council’s Development Management function, 
including development control and policy implementation. The new post will 
report to the Executive Director for Growth, Planning and Housing with a 
dotted line to the Chief Executive. 

Page 19



5.2. Planning Decision Making, including the role of Planning Sub-
Committees 

 

5.2.1. There is a need to overhaul the planning decision making process to ensure 
that decisions are made at the right level with regard to the seniority of officers 
empowered to take decisions as well as the role of Planning Sub-Committees 
and in the right way with regard to the engagement of the local community in 
the process. 

 
5.2.2. The review found that current planning application assessment and sign-off 

procedures are rigorous in Westminster’s current planning service, but 
restricted to senior officers. 

 
5.2.3. This is understandable in a high profile borough, where legal challenges to 

process and decisions are more common than in the rest of the country. 
Notwithstanding this rigour (which often drives consistency and high 
standards), strong leaders with forthright views on high standards of design 
and development need to find ways to pass skills down the chain of command 
to enable more good decisions to be made, more quickly and efficiently. 

 
5.2.4. Passing decision-making to frontline officers will also require officers to work 

closely with ward Councillors and residents to resolve issues as far as 
practical in the local area and align decision making wherever possible 
between the views of officers and those of elected Members who have a 
democratic leadership responsibility for their locality. 

 
5.2.5. Joint working between the local community, planning officers and Members at 

an early stage can ensure that better outcomes are achieved. Even when 
issues cannot be resolved locally and matters are taken to a Planning Sub-
Committee, good communication provides a way of improving understanding 
of the issues from different perspectives right at the start of the process and 
will help improve and clarify decisions taken. 

 
5.2.6. Delegation and call-in procedures are too loosely defined and this results in 

cases appearing on committee agendas that the review team felt could have 
been dealt with elsewhere e.g. a policy interpretation for the discharge of a 
condition; a case that had no objections and was recommended for approval; 
issues and questions on one of the Council’s own major regeneration 
schemes which really should have been dealt with rather than progress to 
committee for a resolution. There were also several other cases including a 
mansard roof development and basement developments that could have been 
resolved outside of committee with some flexibility, creativity and little less 
risk-averse application of policy.  

 
5.2.7. The time of Planning Sub-Committees should be reserved for major schemes 

involving substantial impact on the city as a whole or those schemes with a 
strategic importance for the city. 

 

Page 20



5.2.8. As such a review is required of the delegation and call in procedures to 
ensure that officers are empowered to take decisions on a wider variety of 
applications and at a more junior level. This will create capacity, a more 
consistent and efficient service for customers, support career development, 
increase staff confidence and autonomy, and encourage more aligned local 
decision-making. This would also have the associated benefit of identifying 
potential efficiency gains and cost savings. 

5.2.9. This will also free up time for Planning Sub-Committees to consider a smaller 
number of strategically important applications in greater depth, including the 
opportunity for “public speaking rights”, thereby making the process more 
open and engaging for the public 

5.2.10 The Executive Director of Growth, Planning and Housing and the Executive 
Director of Policy, Performance and Communications will support the 
Planning and City Development Committee to develop detailed proposals for 
the delivery of public speaking rights and other operational arrangements for 
planning decision making (including staff delegation and committees). 

5.2.11 This will include consideration of the process for determining who can speak 
at Sub-Committee meetings, how much time is allocated for speakers, 
support for the public to make effective representations, the management of 
meetings by the Chairman, the layout of the room, timings of meetings e.g. 
day vs. night time and training requirements for Members sitting on Planning 
Sub-Committees. 

5.3 Gifts and Hospitality 
 

5.3.1 The review recommends that Councillors and officers only attend formally 
arranged visits and recorded meetings linked directly and specifically to the 
consideration of planning applications, pre applications or the development of 
policy. Attendance at hospitality events is not required to deliver a good and 
professional service. 

 

5.3.2 As noted above, new guidance was introduced in February 2017 which 
governs meetings held by the Cabinet Member for Place-Shaping and 
Planning and the Chairman of Planning with planning applicants. This 
guidance clearly sets out the type of meetings that are appropriate, that 
officers must be present and take a record of the meeting, including details of 
any advice provided which in turn must be presented as part of the planning 
application papers. This guidance was designed to maintain the integrity and 
the perception of integrity in the planning service, particularly with regard to 
hospitality. 

 

5.3.3 The review found no impropriety or failure to follow guidelines and protocols 
regarding hospitality. However, the practice of accepting hospitality from 
planning applicants was found to be excessive and unnecessary. It has 
become ‘normalised’ in contrast to the practice of most planning services 
across the country. 

 

Page 21



5.3.4 The review found that the Council fundamentally needs to re-think its stance 
on hospitality and make sure that all guidance for staff and members is 
consistent and up to date.  

 

5.3.5 Good practice would be for staff and Councillors to retain a distance from land 
owners, applicants, agents and community stakeholders other than through 
formally arranged visits and recorded meetings linked directly and specifically 
to the consideration of planning applications, pre-applications or the 
development of the local plan. This provides independence and serves to 
maintain trust in what is a public and regulatory service.  

 

5.3.6 Accordingly, it is recommended that the Chief Executive restate to both 
officers and members their responsibilities in terms of the Council’s gifts and 
hospitality policies. This will include emphasising the importance of exercising 
sound judgement in dealing with all offers of gifts and hospitality. To note that 
in terms of the planning service, this will build on the guidance issued in 
February 2017 regarding Councillor meetings with developers on particular 
schemes.   
 

5.3.7 Senior officers will be expected, and should be able to discuss and provide 
guidance to more junior members of staff on what is and isn’t considered 
acceptable. 

 

5.3.8 Furthermore, all guidance regarding meetings with planning applicants should 
be revised in line with the wider recommendations of this report. 

 

6. Engagement  
 

6.1 As the changes proposed in this report will require a significant culture change 
for staff and those externally who use the planning system, in order to take the 
findings of this review forward, further work is required to understand how to 
best implement detailed new procedures and guidance in practice.  

 

6.2 Accordingly, and because the Council is not best placed to determine exactly 
how the system should work, views will be sought from all those with a stake 
in the planning system in Westminster, most notably residents via 
Neighbourhood Forums, Amenity Societies and Residents’ Associations as 
well as the development industry itself. Views will be gathered via an informal 
engagement exercise to understand the best way to implement the principles 
set out in this report, most notably with regard to public speaking rights and 
delegated decision making. 

 

7. Financial Implications 
 
7.1 The reduction of one Director post will result in savings that will be reflected in 

the 2018/19 outturn. Any further financial impacts will be delivered within 
budget and reflected in the 2018/19 outturn. 

 
 
 
 

Page 22



8. Legal Implications 
  

8.1 The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides the local planning 
authority with a strategic role within the planning system with a statutory 
responsibility for management of delivery of planning services within its 
designated area including Development Control and Planning Policy making 
functions.     

 

8.2 Planning legislation and related government guidance requires that the above 
services are provided in a professional and effective manner, and in particular 
that the decision making process is robust and transparent. 

8.3 The Director of Law has considered the proposals set out in this report and is 
satisfied that they will assist the local planning authority in effectively 
discharging its statutory duties as set out above.     

 

9. Staffing Implications 
 

9.1 The Executive Director of Growth, Planning and Housing and the Director of 
People Services will undertake any necessary consultation and ring fencing 
arrangements and ensure an Appointments Sub-Committee is convened to 
make the necessary member level appointments. 

 

If you have any queries about this Report or wish to inspect any of the 

Background Papers  please contact: 

Stuart Love – Chief Executive:  slove@westminster.gov.uk 

Barbara Brownlee – Executive Director of Growth, Planning and Housing 

bbrownlee@westminster.gov.uk 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS: 

Appendix - Planning Advisory Service Report - Development Management Decision 

Making and Committee Review (September 2018) 

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



City of Westminster DM Review report  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Development Management 
Decision Making & Committee 
Review 
 
City of Westminster Council 
 
19th September 2018 
 

Feedback Report 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 25



City of Westminster DM Review report  
 

 

Contents 
 

1. Executive Summary ......................................................................................................................... 3 

2. Key Recommendations ................................................................................................................... 7 

3 Background and scope of the review .............................................................................................. 9 

4 Planning Advisory Service (PAS) .................................................................................................... 10 

5 The review team ........................................................................................................................... 10 

6 Theme 1: An Effective and professional Development Management Service ............................. 11 

7 Theme 2: Hospitality ..................................................................................................................... 13 

8 Theme 3: Committees ................................................................................................................... 14 

9 Theme 4: Delivering Corporate Outcomes & Strategic Management .......................................... 16 

10  Implementation, next steps and further support ..................................................................... 18 

 

 

 

Page 26



City of Westminster DM Review report  
 

 

1. Executive Summary 
 

Review Purpose 
 

1.1 The leadership of City of Westminster Council (Westminster) invited the Planning Advisory 
Service (PAS) to review the operation of Westminster’s Development Management (DM) 
service. PAS has been asked to consider the effectiveness of the service, the role hospitality 
plays, the delivery of corporate objectives and outcomes, and the Planning Committee 
System and Decision Making. 
 

1.2 The PAS review is part of Westminster’s ongoing response to its former lead planning 
councillor being under scrutiny regarding the subject of hospitality from customers and 
stakeholders and his role in the planning process.  
 

Hospitality 
 

1.3 Westminster has a professional and operationally effective DM service, and the review 
found no impropriety or failure to follow guidelines and protocols regarding hospitality.  
 

1.4 However, the practice of accepting hospitality from planning applicants, landowners and 
community groups seems to the review team to be significant and unnecessary.  It has 
become ‘normalised’ in contrast to the practice of most regulatory planning services.   
 

1.5 Good planning practice would be for staff and councillors to retain a distance from land 
owners, applicants, agents and community stakeholders other than at formally arranged 
visits and recorded meetings linked directly and specifically to the consideration of planning 
applications, pre applications, or the development of the local plan. This provides 
professional and service independence, and serves to maintain trust in a public and 
regulatory service.  
 

1.6 In the context of our recommendations, the review team would like Westminster’s 
Development Management service to be clear on what actions have been taken and what 
changes have been made to its procedures, protocols and codes of conduct regarding offers 
of hospitality extended to officers and councillors.  

 
A Development Management Service for the Heart of a Global City 

 
1.7 Westminster is a place of national significance; its place as a world city, royal borough and 

the seat of parliament, makes for a complex operating environment. Westminster is a place 
people want to visit and developers want to build in. The council has enjoyed a very good 
reputation for delivering innovative and high quality services and both staff and councillors 
are keen to ensure that the organisation doesn’t ‘rest on its laurels’ and continues to look 
for ways to change, adapt and innovate.  
 

1.8 For the planning service this includes finding the right balance between its role as a 
regulator, and the transparent promoter of development that will deliver the key outcomes 
for all of Westminster’s communities.  
 

Page 27



City of Westminster DM Review report  
 

1.9 The review team met very experienced, professional, creative and talented people across 
the Directorate including the Development Management service. The review saw a 
professionally competent DM service, with robust procedures checks and balances, a strong 
culture of reducing risk and promoting good design, and useful procedures to deal with 
‘simple’ high volume case work. The review team spoke to professional and technical staff 
who valued the supportive leadership of Development Management, and felt the service 
provided a strong pre application process that helped reduce risk in decision making.  

 
1.10 The review team would encourage the Development Management service to explore and 

develop innovative approaches to city centre management. Westminster’s special position 
as the retail, cultural and governmental centre of one of the world’s most significant global 
cities should be further capitalised on. This should include city management learning from 
other global centres, or perhaps taking a leading role in an aspect of “global city 
management”. Learning about modern approaches of Development Management can also 
be found in many other UK Local Planning Authorities. 

 
Staff Delegation and Development 
 
1.11 Planning application assessment and sign-off procedures are rigorous in Westminster’s 

Development Management service, but restricted to senior officers. This is understandable 
in a high profile Borough, where legal challenges to process and decisions are more common 
than in the rest of the country. Notwithstanding this rigour (which often drives consistency 
and high standards), PAS would advise the service to explore more delegation of decision 
making to support staff development, succession planning and opportunities for efficiency 
gains and cost savings. A ‘command and control’ approach is often established to reduce 
errors and omissions but can sometimes have the opposite effect, or offers no real benefit 
because checking and sign-off is ‘someone else’s job’ and removes the responsibility from 
the frontline case officer. Strong leaders with forthright views on high standards of design 
and development, need to find ways to pass skills down the chain of command to enable 
more good decisions to be made, faster and efficiently. 
 

1.12  The review team were told about “scheme and design review meetings” chaired by 
leadership team members. This is a good example of developing standards. In other planning 
authorities this “triage” process happens at all levels, supporting both strong decisions 
making and high levels of resource efficiency. Passing decision making to frontline officers 
could also encourage officers to work closely with ward members and align decision making 
wherever possible between the views of officers and those of elected members who have a 
democratic leadership responsibility for their locality. 
 

Aligning Development Management, Policy and Regeneration 
 
1.13 Internal partners in other service departments describe the Development Management 

service as helpful, providing good policy guidance and specialist advice e.g. on urban design 
and one senior officer said it was one of the best planning services they had experienced. 
 

1.14 Notwithstanding this, most senior officers the review team spoke to from across all built 
environment and regeneration services, said the planning service should be better aligned in 
order to deliver corporate projects and ambitions. And, there could be better alignment of 
corporate priorities, policy and decision making. 

 

Page 28



City of Westminster DM Review report  
 

1.15 The review team saw a Development Management Service that is badged as a Planning 
Service. The current Director’s role is limited to being the Head of Development 
Management. Development Management is only part of the role of Town Planning.  
 

1.16 In Westminster Development Management is not structurally linked to Planning Policy and 
was perceived by most of the people we spoke to in the organisation to be removed from 
the objectives and priorities of the Council, serving its own ‘Planning Interests’. The Review 
team cannot evidence these claims but recognise that Development Management services 
in general need to work with this tension and to find a critical and difficult balance between 
both the regulatory function of “development control” – including treating all applicants 
equally - and the “development management” role of supporting and delivering the 
objectives and vision of both the Local Plan and Corporate Plan.  
 

1.17 This tension is normal in LPAs and illustrates that Development Management and its sister 
services are struggling with the right issues. The review team felt, however, that 
Development Management took a somewhat traditional approach to delivering a unique 
agenda. In order to help resolve some of the planning tensions picked up by the review 
team, Westminster may like to consider reviewing matters based on the following principles:  
 
- The role of Town Planning should be at the heart of the organisation; 

 
- Planning Policy needs to be the spatial interpretation of the Council’s vision, objectives 

and priorities – both planning and city management; 
 

- Planning Policy and Development Management, should actively plan for delivery against 
these objectives and be a proactive tool for achievement; 
 

- When this alignment works well, regulatory planning can act as a catalyst and facilitator 
for growth and change with development management, managing that change, 
mediating and enabling. In this way a balance can be found to deliver both the needs of 
a diverse residential community and the requirements of a progressive modern global 
city. 

 
1.18 To achieve these principles, Westminster could examine a number of options; finding ways 

of achieving closer collaboration between existing services/Directorates; a more 
fundamental re-organising of the service; or the appointment of a strategic planning lead 
role to work at the leadership team level. Whichever route is taken, the critical ingredient of 
success is that the cultural leadership in all key services must be committed to joined-up, 
closer corporate working and delivery. 
 

Planning Decision Making – committees 
 
1.19 The review team found planning committees to be well chaired and overall there is a good 

quality of debate among the committee and presenting officers. However, the review team 
would question whether in their present form, they make best use of committee resources 
or represent an open and engaging experience for the public. 
 

1.20 Reviewing the delegation and call-in procedures, empowering officers and councillors to 
resolve issues at a local level, and engaging committee members much earlier (including at 
pre-application) on significant major development proposals would all help to ensure that 
committee resources are focused on the right type/level of application. The knock-on effect 

Page 29



City of Westminster DM Review report  
 

would be the freeing up of committee time which could smooth the way for the introduction 
of the commitment to “public speaking rights” thereby making the process more open and 
engaging for the public. The Peer Review Team also endorse Westminster’s own pledge for 
public speaking at planning committee, this has become common across many councils and 
removes a lot of frustration about engagement in this part of the process.  
 

1.21 In the absence of any evidence found by the review team we would like Westminster’s 
Development Management service to be clear on what actions have been taken to date to 
establish speaking rights at planning committees. The review team would expect this to be 
led from within the Development Management service.  
 

Opportunity for change 
 
1.22 Westminster is currently reviewing its City Development Plan and there is an obvious and 

renewed commitment from the leadership of Westminster to making sure that all of its 
residents benefit from development through the Leader’s ‘City for All’ programme.  
 

1.23 This represents a significant opportunity, alongside the findings of this review, for the 
planning service to positively challenge itself to be in the strongest position possible to 
deliver the City Plan objectives, and Westminster’s wider corporate objectives.  

Page 30



City of Westminster DM Review report  
 

 

2. Key Recommendations 

 
This section summarises the key recommendations. The full and more detailed findings can be found 
under each theme heading later in the report. 
 
2.1 Development Management, Planning Policy, Delivery and Regeneration need to be more 

closely aligned. To achieve this “alignment” the Council could examine closer collaboration 
between existing services/Directorates; a service re organisation or the appointment of a 
strategic planning role, (with or without portfolio) to work at the leadership team level. The 
critical ingredient of success, whichever route is taken, is that the cultural leadership in all key 
services must be committed to joined-up, corporate planning and delivery. This would also help 
to “de risk” complicated corporate projects. 
 

2.2 The DM service should publicly promote and deliver ‘distance’ between the regulatory service 
and applicants, agents, formal community organisations and the public. Attendance at 
hospitality events is not needed to deliver a good and professional service. The PAS team 
recommend that councillors and planning service officers only attend formally arranged visits 
and recorded meetings linked directly and specifically to the consideration of planning 
applications, pre applications, or the development of policy. The absence of familiarity drives 
trust in regulatory services. 
 

2.3 Committee practices and procedures need to be reviewed to focus resources on the right 
types of development and creating a platform for a more open and engaging experience for 
the public. Planning committee is the shop window for planning decisions and place shaping. A 
review should include:  
 
- Revising call-in powers and the scheme of delegation to ensure committee is focused on the 
discussion of significant schemes;  
 
- Presentation of pre application schemes to committee and possibly formal pre application 
public meetings in advance of committee; 
 
- Public design panel hearings; 
 
- Public reviews of appeal results and more reports on place shaping. 
 
This could facilitate the introduction of measures to broaden the opportunities for public 
engagement with planning committees including the Leader’s pledge on introducing “public 
speaking rights”.  
 

2.4 Delegate decision making among a greater number of staff. This will create capacity, a more 
consistent and efficient service for customers, support career development, increase staff 
confidence and autonomy and encourage more aligned local decision making. This would also 
have the associated benefit of identifying potential efficiency gains and cost savings. 

2.5 The service needs to review the roles of its highways planning team and the corporate 
Highways function.  The highways planning team are embedded within the Development 
Management service. The review team are of the opinion that the highways planning team and 

Page 31



City of Westminster DM Review report  
 

corporate highways function would benefit from more closely aligned agendas and 
understanding of each other’s objectives and priorities. One option to achieve this could be to 
give highways planning officers a clear responsibility to both Development Management and 
Corporate highways, and making it the clear responsibility of this team to align the interests of 
both services. This issue is certainly not unique to Westminster and PAS can help link 
Westminster to other councils who have managed a solution to this situation.  
 

2.6 Continue to use all available measures to address recruitment and retention issues. The review 
team was told that despite Westminster’s reputation and draw for young and talented planners, 
recruitment and retention is difficult. The review team recommends utilising all existing 
measures to the full and also developing a range of initiatives to support the growth of 
succession planning. This could include a strong graduate programme and reviewing pay scale 
and progression rules. 
 

2.7 Review communications on Planning Performance Agreements (PPAs).  The Review team heard 
that customers aren’t clear what benefit they get from planning performance agreements 
(PPAs). This ranged from those not able to differentiate it from the pre-application advice, to 
those that ‘just see it as part of getting a development through’. There is an opportunity for 
Westminster to articulate and be clear about the value/service customers can expect (e.g. levels 
of dedicated officer time/the right level of engagement across the council with 
highways/housing/regeneration/legal, earlier engagement with key councillors etc.).  

Page 32



City of Westminster DM Review report  
 

 

3 Background and scope of the review 
 

3.1 Westminster council’s planning service is currently under the spotlight following an 
investigation into concerns about hospitality. The Chief Executive of Westminster Council 
has used this as an opportunity to invite the Planning Advisory Service (PAS) carry out a 
short focused review of its Development Management processes and committee system.   
 

3.2 The PAS review is carried out by fellow local government planning professionals, not 
consultants, inspectors or lawyers.       
 

3.3 The review focused on 4 key areas as they relate to the Development Management service: 

3.3.1 Theme 1: Effectiveness of the service  

3.3.2 Theme 2: The role hospitality plays  

3.3.3 Theme 3: Delivering corporate objectives and outcomes  

3.3.4 Theme 4: The Planning Committee System and Decision  

3.4 It is important to stress that this review is not an inspection; it is improvement focussed and 
designed to complement and add value to a council’s own performance and improvement 
plans.  The review is not designed to provide an in-depth or technical assessment but for the 
peer team to use their experience and knowledge to reflect on the information presented to 
them by people they met, things they saw and material that they read. 

3.5 This report is a summary of the peer team’s findings. By its nature, the review represents a 
snapshot in time.  We appreciate that some of the feedback in this report may be about 
things that Westminster is already addressing and progressing.  
 

3.6 As commissioner of the review, the PAS review team has presented a verbal summary of this 
report and recommendations to the Chief Executive of Westminster. PAS would, at the 
instruction of the Chief Executive, welcome the opportunity to present this draft report to 
other audiences within/outside the council and involve them in any final recommendations. 

3.7 The PAS review team would like to thank councillors, staff, people who use services, and 
partners for their open and constructive responses during the review process. All 
information collected was on a non-attributable basis. The team was made to feel very 
welcome and would especially like to mention the invaluable assistance and excellent onsite 
support to the team in planning and undertaking this review.

Page 33



City of Westminster DM Review report  
 

 

4 Planning Advisory Service (PAS) 

 
4.1 PAS is a Local Government Association (LGA) programme which is funded primarily by a grant 

from the Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government (MHCLG). 

 

4.2 It is our principal mission to ensure that local planning authorities (LPAs) are continuously 

improving in their execution and delivery of planning services.  

 

4.3 To achieve this, the PAS work programme focuses on:  

 

a) Helping local government officers and councillors to stay effective and up to date by 

guiding them on the implementation of the latest reforms to planning. 

 

b) Promoting a ‘sector-led’ improvement programme that encourages and facilitates local 

authorities to help each other through peer support and the sharing of best practice. 

 

c) Providing consultancy and peer support, designing and delivering training and learning 

events, and publishing a range of resources online.  

 

d) Facilitating organisational change, improvement and capacity building programmes - 

promoting, sharing and helping implement the very latest and best ways of delivering the 

planning service.   

 

4.4 PAS also delivers some of its services on a commercial basis including change and improvement 

programmes for individual and groups of planning authorities in England, Scotland, Wales and 

Northern Ireland. PAS’ commercial work includes traditional planning peer challenges and more 

focused pieces of review work of the type carried out at City of Westminster council. 

5 The review team 
 

4.1 The peer team is made up of serving council officers, and a PAS review manager: 

 

 Phil Mason, Director of Planning & Sustainable Development, Cornwall Council 

 

 Marc Dorfman, PAS Associate and Special Planning Advisor South Somerset District 

Council 

 

 Martin Hutchings, Review Manager, Planning Advisory Service 

 

Page 34



City of Westminster DM Review report  
 

 

6 Theme 1: An Effective and 

professional Development Management Service 

  
6.1 The review team found a professional, and operationally effective Development Management 

service.  There are strong, established relationships with developers who report positively about 
working with Westminster, find its planners to be professional and committed and feel that the 
development agendas on both sides are understood. 
 

6.2 The review team spoke to professional and technical Development Management staff who 
valued the supportive leadership of the service, and felt the service provided a strong pre 
application process that helped reduce risk in decision making.  

 
6.3 Staff in Westminster’s Development Management team are committed to their work and good 

customer service. At all levels staff have a strong performance ethos and a strong commitment 
to delivering policy compliant Development Management decisions in a pressurised 
environment. 

 
6.4 Performance is currently very good against national indicators and there some good processes in 

place for dealing with high volume - low complexity schemes. Statutory targets for major 
planning applications are currently being well met by the service for all of the Government’s 
main performance targets. 

 
6.5 The pre-application offer is clear and its purpose is clearly understood by officers to be the 

provision of better-designed and more policy compliant schemes for formal assessment. 
Developers report that the pre-application process works well and that they find the process 
collaborative and that it adds value.  

 
6.6 There are good processes in place to ensure wherever possible that officer continuity is achieved 

after pre-application is completed and the application is submitted. Pre-application meeting 
notes are filed and linked to subsequent planning applications, and some cases develop into 
programmed Planning Performance Agreements. 

 
6.7 Planning Application assessment and case sign-off procedures are rigorous. There is strong 

direction from senior staff in how decisions are made. This is understandable for certain types of 
application (Westminster operates in a high profile environment, where risk can be high and 
legal challenges common). Experimenting with more delegation may further support career 
development and help to combat the general view that “Westminster trains planners and then 
they leave because there are few development opportunities”. In addition high levels of 
checking is costly – so experimentation with more staff delegation could be valuable. 

 
6.8 Customers also feel that the service would benefit from a more devolved decision-making 

powers – some expressed a concern that some of the early strategic discussions that take place 
on schemes with senior management do not always filter down to those processing the 
application which can result in inconsistencies or delays when issues thought to have been 
resolved have to be referred back to senior management. 

 

Page 35



City of Westminster DM Review report  
 

6.9 There is a delicate balance to be found – strategic control usually means service consistency, but 
more delegation down through the hierarchy would spread responsibility and ability. This in turn 
would promote succession candidates. Devolving responsibility would support better 
remuneration through the ranks and allow flexibility and change at management levels.  

 
6.10 Councillor involvement in pre application discussions is not routinely offered but can be 

requested by the customer under a strict protocol. There isn’t a formal system of presenting 
significant pre applications to Committee. This can result in councillor involvement coming late 
or in an un-coordinated way into the process meaning that key local knowledge/intelligence is 
not considered early enough and can result in the council appearing inconsistent / not joined up, 
or lead to deferrals at committee as witnessed by the review team. A more routine/formalised 
approach to involving councillors early on all major and strategic developments would be 
beneficial.  

 
6.11 Some customers aren’t clear what benefit they get from planning performance agreements 

(PPAs). This ranged from those not able to differentiate it from the pre-application advice, to 
those that ‘just see it as part of getting a development through’. There is no evidence that PPAs 
are ineffective, but perhaps there is an opportunity for Westminster to articulate the 
value/service customers can expect (e.g. levels of dedicated officer time/the right level of 
engagement across the council with highways/housing/regeneration/legal, earlier engagement 
with key councillors etc.).  

 

 
 

 
 

Page 36



City of Westminster DM Review report  
 

6.12  

7 Theme 2: Hospitality  

 
7.1 The review team found no evidence of impropriety or failure to follow guidelines and protocols 

regarding hospitality. However, the practice of accepting hospitality from planning applicants, 
landowners and community groups seems to the review team to be significant and unnecessary.  
It has become ‘normalised’ in contrast to the practice of most regulatory planning services.   

 
7.2 While the leadership of the service has no need (technically), to defend the service’s reputation 

during a period of speculation about impropriety, it does need to make sure that it has done 
enough to strongly address the perception of inappropriate hospitality. The PAS team feel that 
more may need to be done in this respect; the service should consider whether it has gone far 
enough in addressing public concerns, and whether it should make a more formal and public 
response regarding the action it has taken and the procedures that it has reviewed or changed.  

 
7.3 The professional view of the PAS review team is that such meetings do not need to be attended 

by representatives of the planning service who are acting in an objective regulatory capacity. 
Attendance is not needed to deliver a good and professional service.    

 

7.4 Good planning practice would be to retain a distance from land owners, applicants, agents and 
community stakeholders other than at formerly arranged visits and at recorded meetings linked 
to the consideration of planning applications, pre applications, or the development of the local 
plan. This provides professional and service independence, and serves to maintain trust in a 
public and regulatory service.  
 

7.5 The council needs to fundamentally re-think its stance on hospitality and then make sure that all 
guidance for staff and members is consistent and up to date. A cultural shift is required that goes 
beyond advising what is and isn’t acceptable and places more emphasis on questioning up front 
what value accepting offers of hospitality or attending events will add to the decision making 
processes. This will allow staff and councillors to remain confidently objective and transparent as 
they seek to deliver the best outcomes from development for all residents of Westminster. 

 

 

Page 37



City of Westminster DM Review report  
 

 

8 Theme 3: Committees 

  
8.1 The review team attended one area committee and one strategic development committee. Both 

were very well chaired; agenda items and time were well managed and overall there was a good 
quality of debate among the committee and officers. The committee process is also excellently 
supported by the committee services officers.  
 

8.2 Planning officers at committee are calm, informed, polite and professional and do a good job of 
presenting balanced, policy-based assessments and recommendations, and responding 
competently to questions.  

 

8.3 The number of members of the Committees is appropriate for effective debate and decision 
making.  

 

8.4 Due to the layout and arrangement of the current committee room, the attendees and general 
public at committee felt isolated from the committee members.  Large individual screens 
blocked the ability to see the committee members and there is a lack of basic guidance and 
information makes the committee process difficult to understand as an attendee. 

 
8.5 Most of the committee members are clearly experienced and this adds to the value of their role 

as the decision makers. However, at times 'reminiscences' about other cases, previous 
experiences, questions about matters that were not linked to planning and repetition of points 
already made, did not add to the quality of the debate and slowed down the decision making 
process. The debate should focus on the case in hand and questions/points arising from the 
reports/officers presentation.  

 
8.6 The process for voting should be revised so that each committee member’s opinion is heard and 

then the vote taken. At the moment committee members summarise their views and then 
declare the way they will vote one-by-one. 

 
8.7 Delegation and call-in procedures are too loosely defined and this results in cases appearing on 

committee agendas that the review team felt could have been dealt with elsewhere e.g. a policy 
interpretation for the discharge of a condition; a case that had no objections and was 
recommended for approval; issues and questions on one of the council’s own major 
regeneration schemes that really should have been dealt with before getting this far to 
committee. There were also several other cases including a mansard roof development and 
basement developments that could have been resolved outside of committee with some 
flexibility, creativity and little less risk-averse application of policy. This is deflecting the 
committee from being able to concentrate efforts on the important strategic decisions for 
Westminster.  

 

8.8 It is right that there is a process that allows items that are of legitimate concern to councillors, 
communities and officers to be assessed by committee. However, it is the opinion of the review 
team that the current committee structure and delegation procedures potentially discourage 
local issue-solving, encourage a risk-averse approach and can result in policy being applied too 
narrowly to control rather than facilitate development. Tightening up the delegation and call-in 
procedures could also be supported by the introduction of more devolved powers to solve issues 

Page 38



City of Westminster DM Review report  
 

at a local level and by involving committee at the earliest stage possible in the development 
process e.g. pre-application presentations to committee on major applications.  

8.9 Planning committees are the ‘shop window’ for councils and are one of the key ways that 
residents can have their voices heard. It is the review team’s opinion that too many gaps and 
disconnections in the process are preventing it from being as effective as it could be in terms of 
engagement and being representative. The relative ease with which councillors can call-in 
applications does give the outward appearance of the process being ‘resident-focused’ but only 
goes so far in terms of public engagement as there are presently no public speaking rights. 

 

8.10 The review team endorses the introduction of public speaking rights, an election pledge by 
the Leader, and is unclear how much progress has been made towards delivering it. The review 
team would like to have seen more evidence of the service exploring ‘how to’ introduce public 
speaking rights.  
 

8.11 Westminster would be mistaken however were it to introduce public speaking rights alone 
without the other changes recommended above in terms of introducing processes for more local 
problem solving and earlier engagement of committee members on major development. The 
only ‘legitimate’ concern that the review team picked up regarding the introduction of public 
speaking at committee was one of the time it would add to meetings. Tightening up the 
delegation and call-in procedures to reduce the numbers of items on committee alone would 
free up enough time to address these concerns.   

 

Page 39



City of Westminster DM Review report  
 

 

9 Theme 4: Delivering Corporate Outcomes & Strategic Management 
 

9.1 Internal partners in other service departments describe the Development Management service 
as helpful, providing good policy guidance and specialist advice e.g. on urban design, and the 
service was described by one senior officer as one of the best they had ever experienced. 
 

9.2 Notwithstanding this, most senior officers the review team spoke to, from across all built 
environment and regeneration services, (Development Management, planning policy, housing, 
regeneration and highways), said the planning service should be better aligned in order to 
deliver corporate projects and ambitions. And, there could be better alignment of corporate 
priorities, policy and decision making. 
 

9.3 The review team saw a Development Management Service that is badged as a Planning Service. 
The current Director’s role is limited to being the Head of Development Management. 
Development Management is only part of the role of Town Planning. In Westminster it is not 
structurally linked to Planning Policy and was perceived by most of the people we spoke to in the 
organisation to be removed from the objectives and priorities of the Council. 
 

9.4 The review team believe that the role of Town Planning should be at the heart of the 
organisation. Planning Policy should be the spatial interpretation of the Council’s vision, 
objectives and priorities. The emerging City Plan must, therefore, be closely aligned to 
expressing the vision and objectives of Westminster, it must promote and actively plan for 
delivery against these objectives and be a proactive tool for achievement. When this alignment 
works well, regulatory planning can act as a catalyst and facilitator for growth and change with 
development management, managing that change, mediating and enabling. 

 

9.5 To achieve this alignment the Council could examine closer collaboration between existing 
services/Directorates; a service re organisation or the appointment of a strategic planning role, 
(with or without portfolio) to work at the leadership team level. The critical ingredient of 
success, which ever route is taken, is that the cultural leadership in all key services must be 
committed to joined-up, corporate planning and delivery. 

 

9.6 The Leadership of Westminster has an excellent opportunity to change the narrative about 
planning and with it the philosophy and role of planning. Westminster does not have to go out 
and seek development and this could have contributed to the balance at Westminster being 
tilted more towards reacting to and regulating development than proactively managing and 
delivering a vision. The ‘City for All’ strategy and emerging local plan should be the driving forces 
that communicate to the community and developers a clear vision for Westminster, how it 
wants to develop and its priorities. Planning should be placed at the front and centre of how that 
vision is achieved.  

 

9.7 Westminster is home to around a quarter of a million residents, and has a careful balance to 
achieve in terms of delivering the world class schemes it attracts and the relationship/influence 
that has on what it is able to deliver in terms of public amenity and affordable housing.  
 

9.8 The planning service must continue to extend its community engagement expertise to ensure 
that it is reaching all sections of the community. The planning service has very strong links with 
the main resident and amenity groups across Westminster and it must examine these 

Page 40



City of Westminster DM Review report  
 

relationships and be confident that the views of established and well-organised community 
groups are balanced by understanding the views of all residents and an understanding of all 
resident’s needs, particularly the needs of those people who are often not heard.  

Page 41



City of Westminster DM Review report  
 

10  Implementation, next steps and further support 
 

10.1 To be discussed with Westminster. 

 

The author of this report is martin.hutchings@local.gov.uk  

We are grateful for the support of everyone that contributed to this review.  

 

Local Government Association 

18 Smith Square 

Westminster 

London 

SW1P 3HZ 

Contact us by: 

 Email: info@local.gov.uk 
 Telephone: 020 7664 3000 
 Fax: 020 7664 3030 

 

Page 42

mailto:martin.hutchings@local.gov.uk
mailto:info@local.gov.uk

	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Development Planning, Trends and Issues
	Appendix 1 - Cabinet Report
	Appendix 1a - Planning Advisory Service Report - Development Management Decision Making and Committee Review


